
Planning Board 
Regular Meeting Agenda 

October 9, 2023, 6:30 p.m. 

 

1. Call to Order 

2. Approval of September 18, 2023, Meeting Minutes  

3. City Council Actions Update 

4. Request for a Special Use Permit to allow for a concrete plant on the +/- 5.28-acre parcel 
located at 920 Mattress Factory Road (GPIN: 9824778854) by VM Development, LLC. 
 

5. Request to rezone a +/- 3.8-acre unaddressed property with frontages on Lake Latham 
Road and West Holt Street (GPIN: 9815147486), portions of a +/- 27.5-acre property 
addressed 1268 West Holt Street (GPIN: 9815242044), and portions of a +/- 6.8-acre 
unaddressed property with frontages on Sun Ray Lane and Lake Latham Road (GPIN: 
9815125977) from Heavy Manufacturing and Light Manufacturing to Heavy 
Manufacturing, Conditional District to allow for a railyard on a +/- 8.03-acre site by Samet 
Corporation. 

 
6. Updates to the Bylaws and Rules of Procedure of the Mebane Plan 
 
7. New Business 
 
8. Adjournment 



Planning Board 
Minutes to the Meeting 

September 18, 2023, 6:30 p.m. 

 
The Planning Board meeting was held at the Glendel Stephenson Municipal Building located at 106 E. 
Washington Street, Mebane, NC 27302 and livestreamed via YouTube. The video can be accessed 
through the following link: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=TpqAZWK7Tx0. 
 

Members Present:   Members Absent: 
Judy Taylor, Vice Chair  Edward Tulauskas, Chair 
Kurt Pearson   
William Chapman   
Keith Hoover   
Gale Pettiford   
David Scott   
Susan Semonite   

 
City Staff Present:   
Ashley Ownbey, Development Director 
Briana Perkins, City Planner 
Chad Cross, IT Specialist 
 
1. Call to Order 

At 6:30 p.m. Vice-Chair Taylor called the meeting to order. 
 
2. Approval of July 17, 2023, Meeting Minutes 

Gale Pettiford made a motion to approve the meeting minutes. Susan Semonite seconded the 
motion, which passed unanimously. 

 
3. City Council Actions Update 

Ashley Ownbey informed the Board that the City Council had approved the rezoning request for 
Evolve at Mebane Oaks, which was revised after Planning Board. Revisions included: a reduction 
from 320 apartments to 294; the loss of one single-family lot; the addition of a pocket park with a 
playground, pickle ball court, pavilion, walking trails, cornhole, and community garden; payment in 
lieu of outstanding public recreation space; and the loss of a connection to the Arbor Creek 
subdivision.  
 

4. Request to rezone four properties totaling +/- 27.16 acres located along Mebane Oaks Road and 
Old Hillsborough Road (GPINs: 9824112921, 9824123324, 9824120532, and 9824124332), from R-
20 and B-2 to R-8 (CD) and B-2 (CD) for a development consisting of five commercial parcels and 
90 townhomes by Deep River Partners. 
 
Deep River Partners is requesting to rezone four properties totaling +/- 27.16 acres located along 
Mebane Oaks Road and Old Hillsborough Road (GPINs: 9824112921, 9824123324, 9824120532, and 
9824124332), from R-20 and B-2 to R-8 (CD) and B-2 (CD) for a development consisting of five 
commercial parcels and 90 townhomes. The property is in Alamance County in Mebane’s Extra - 
Territorial Jurisdic�on (ETJ) and requires a pe��on for annexa�on before connec�ng to City u�li�es.      

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=TpqAZWK7Tx0


Planning Board 
Minutes to the Meeting 

September 18, 2023, 6:30 p.m. 

 
The current use of the property is single-family residen�al, forested, and vacant. The surrounding 
uses include the Mebane Fire Sta�on 3, churches, commercial, single-family residen�al, and The 
Meadows subdivision.  According to the City of Mebane’s Comprehensive Land Development Plan, 
Mebane by Design, the property is in the Secondary Growth Strategy Area and Jones Drive and 
South Mebane Oaks Residential Growth Area, which supports a mix of residential and light 
commercial uses. The applicant proposed the following conditions as part of the conditional 
rezoning request: 
 
Requested Conditions 
 

• Minimum 30-foot building separation between townhome buildings, with no side yards. 
 

• An alternative landscaping plan. 
 
• Provide +/- 1.06 acres of private recreation and request to consider townhome backyards to 

reach the required 2.07 acres. 
 

• Provide a payment in lieu of public recreation to be used for off-site pedestrian 
improvements. 
 

• Provide commercial lots with driveway access from Wilson Road, cross-access between the 
lots, and a restriction of commercial uses. 

 
• Provide multi-modal improvements with a 5-foot sidewalk along Mebane Oaks Road and a 

10-foot multi-use path along Old Hillsborough Road.  
 
The Technical Review Committee (TRC) reviewed the site plan six times, and the applicant revised 
the plan to reflect the comments. 
 
The site-specific plan and staff report are provided in the meeting agenda packet available here. 
 
Briana Perkins provided a more detailed overview and PowerPoint presenta�on of the request. 
 
Tom Boney Jr. asked for the amount of the payment in lieu for public recrea�on. Ashley Ownbey 
replied the payment was over $135,000. Mr. Boney asked what the calcula�on was to determine the 
amount. Ms. Ownbey replied that the calcula�on was based on the current assessed value of the 
land. 
 
Mike Fix, atorney with Tuggle Duggins and represen�ng Deep River Partners, introduced Steen 
Spove and Brian Pierce with Deep River Partners, Andrew Christ the civil engineer, and Dionne 

https://cityofmebane-my.sharepoint.com/personal/avogel_cityofmebane_com/Documents/Planning%20Board/2023%20Planning%20Board%20Meetings/09%20September/September%202023%20Agenda%20Packet%20-%20Updated.pdf


Planning Board 
Minutes to the Meeting 

September 18, 2023, 6:30 p.m. 

 
Brown the traffic engineer. He highlighted that the site is a mixed-use development with commercial 
uses along Mebane Oaks Road. He stated that the commercial parcels would be accessed internally 
via Wilson Road, lessening the impact on Mebane Oaks Road. He said the commercial is 
complemented by the moderate density residen�al development of the townhomes which are in 
high demand. Mr. Fox explained that the site had challenges with wetlands on the back por�on of 
the site and many of the proposed condi�ons of the site came from the constraints of the property. 
He also provided that there would be sidewalks throughout the development crea�ng walkability 
and a 10’ wide mul�-use path. Mr. Fox reported that Deep River Partners held a neighborhood 
mee�ng on August 30, 2023, with about 21 invita�ons distributed. He said that they had five 
responses to the invita�on and two neighbors who atended the mee�ng. 
 
Brian Pierce, with Deep River Partners, provided background of Deep River Partners. Mr. Pierce 
explained that they plan to leverage some of the business connec�ons to atract development to 
Mebane. He reviewed his experience with residen�al developments, including one in Swepsonville 
called Autumn Trace. He remarked that the townhome development was a good transi�on from the 
exis�ng residen�al to the commercial uses on Mebane Oaks Road.  
 
Mike Fox explained some of the constraints of the development and the construc�on of a por�on of 
Wilson Road. Mr. Fox described how the developers worked closely with NCDOT to consider 
pedestrian and traffic safety. He explained the market for townhome units and commented on 
coordina�on with City staff on the private recrea�on component. Mr. Fox reviewed that the 
developer is commited to assis�ng with flood preven�on, stream preserva�on, and wildlife 
management as possible, which were concerns of neighbors. He presented townhome inspira�ons, 
no�ng that an exact design had not been decided, and offered the following architectural 
commitments: façade eleva�ons featuring 25% or more brick or stone; slab on grade construc�on; 
single-car garages; 30-year architectural shingles; projected eaves; minimum 1,400 square feet; 
where vinyl siding is used, differen�a�on and variety of textures and muted colors. 
 
Tom Boney Jr. asked staff if there was any precedent on using the backyard as part of the private 
recrea�on area. Ashley Ownbey responded that the Mebane Unified Development Ordinance (UDO) 
requires private recrea�on when the dwelling unit is for rent, and this is one of the first projects staff 
have encountered with rental townhome units. A prior project proposed in August of 2020 included 
townhomes for rent, but she was uncertain of the private recrea�on commitments. Ms. Ownbey 
explained that this development and others have caused staff to take a closer look at recrea�on 
requirements and more research will likely follow. 
 
Don Windsor, 4253 Old Hillsborough Road, asked about the new Wilson Road. Brian Pierce explained 
that their development would be building another por�on of the current Wilson Road. Judy Taylor 
commented that there was already a por�on built behind Wendy’s and Chick-fil-A and it would 
eventually be extended all the way down to Old Hillsborough Road as shown on the Mebane Oaks 



Planning Board 
Minutes to the Meeting 

September 18, 2023, 6:30 p.m. 

 
Road Small Area Plan.  Brian Pierce said that they would have entrances to both Old Hillsborough 
and Mebane Oaks Road with the Wilson Road eventually being connected all the way to Old 
Hillsborough. 
 
Don Windsor asked if the bridge on Old Hillsborough would be addressed with the development 
since it seemed unsafe for heavy truck travel. Mike Fox replied that the NCDOT had only required 
improvements in the scope of their development and the NCDOT had the bridge improvements on 
their schedule. Judy Taylor commented that the bridge improvements were not part of the Deep 
River traffic impact analysis, and the neighbors could present concerns about the bridge to the 
NCDOT. 
 
Don Windsor then asked if the developer was filling in the floodplain. Brian Pierce replied that a 
flood study would have to be done and FEMA permits applied for, but they were only impac�ng a 
small percentage of the floodplain. Don Windsor asked if it was legal to fill in a floodplain. Brian 
Pierce replied that they would have to go through the State and proper channels before they could 
develop. 
 
Robert Workman, 4129 Old Hillsborough Road, asked if the new turn lanes will be on the north end 
of Old Hillsborough Road or if they were extending the whole road. Brian Pierce responded that he 
could not fully answer at this �me since the design was not complete and Deep River had commited 
to a turn lane on Old Hillsborough Road. Mr. Workman expanded upon his concerns with addi�onal 
widening of Old Hillsborough Road. 
 
Don Windsor commented on the commercial building on the corner of Old Hillsborough Road and 
Mebane Oaks Road, which is owned by his uncle. He noted that if the road is widened on the le� 
side of the road, then the building would lose parking space completely. Mike Fox responded that 
the development could not take land on the other side of the road and would only follow what the 
NCDOT required for their development. He said the NCDOT might acquire right-of-way for 
improvements. 
 
David Scot asked what the es�mated rental rates were for the townhomes. Brian Pierce replied that 
the rates had not been determined. Mr. Scot asked how many bedrooms per unit and if there would 
be any bedrooms on the lower level. Mr. Pierce replied that all units would have three bedrooms 
that are upstairs. He said that he would love bedrooms downstairs, but with the constraints of the 
topography, they were limited in width allowance.  
 
Colin Canell asked to clarify where the backyards were on the site plans. Brian Pierce replied that on 
the site plan the unit was the shaded area, and the doted box was the backyard area. Mr. Canell 
asked if the yards would be separated in any way. Brian Pierce replied that there would be a par��on 
between backyards. The yards would not be enclosed in order to allow for maintenance. Mr. Canell 



Planning Board 
Minutes to the Meeting 

September 18, 2023, 6:30 p.m. 

 
commented that he had lived in similar townhomes and felt that the natural inclina�on of renters 
would be that they would get quiet enjoyment in the par��oned yard. He said that it seemed there 
was a discrepancy between what would be perceived as their private recrea�on area and what the 
UDO was describing as a shared recrea�on area. Judy Taylor commented that staff had alluded to 
that discrepancy earlier with the rental townhome development being new to Mebane and how 
recrea�on for this type of development differs from what is defined in the UDO, typically for 
apartments. Mike Fox added that it would be clearly defined in the lease what a renter’s area would 
be.  
 
Colin Canell asked for clarifica�on on what Deep River’s plans were for the floodplain since it looked 
like units 3,4,5, and 6 were within the 100-year floodplain. Andrew Christ, civil engineer for the 
project, replied that there was a procedure to fill in the floodplain and the slabs of the units would 
be approximately 20 feet higher than the stream. Mr. Canell asked if that meant that these units 
would not be required to have flood insurance. Mr. Christ replied that the units would not need 
flood insurance since the floodplain line would be moved away from the units. 
 
Susan Semonite asked about the commercial proper�es and if some of the uses would be able to fit 
on the proposed lots with parking requirements. Brian Pierce replied that as retailers are iden�fied, 
site plans will be generated and some of the internal lines may have to be adjusted to accommodate 
requirements. He said moving the internal lines would not affect any of the land use and staff would 
have to approve those changes. Ms. Semonite explained that she wanted to ask since most of the 
proposed condi�ons seemed to be about the constraints of the property and she wanted to make 
sure that users would not propose more excep�ons. Mike Fox replied that most of the proposed 
excep�ons were for the exterior of the lot and that the topography of the site provided most of the 
development constraints. He said there was a clear transi�on between the residen�al and 
commercial uses with Wilson Road. 
 
Judy Taylor asked about the amount of parking provided since there was minimal overflow parking 
shown. Brian Pierce replied that there would be a single-car garage with a driveway that could fit 
one or two cars. Ashley Ownbey stated that there were 47 overflow parking spaces shown on the 
site plan and the development met parking requirements. Mr. Pierce commented that extra spaces 
were provided to keep cars off the street. 
 
Tom Boney, Jr. asked if Deep River Partners had any commercial commitments yet. Brian Pierce 
responded that there had been expressed interest, but the project was premature in the process for 
any commercial commitments to be made. 
 
Colin Canell discussed some of his concerns with the private recrea�on including the backyards and 
suggested the requirement could be met by removing units 23-25. Ashley Ownbey said the intent of 
the UDO requirement was to address dwelling units that lacked a backyard. She added that the 



Planning Board 
Minutes to the Meeting 

September 18, 2023, 6:30 p.m. 

 
request was for a condi�onal zoning district, which allows applicants to cra� condi�ons specific to 
their project. She clarified that the backyards would be private and a walking trail is shown to access 
other recrea�on areas. 

David Scott made a motion to approve the R-8 (CD) and B-2 (CD) zoning request from Deep River 
Partners as follows: 

Motion to approve the R-8 (CD) and B-2 (CD) zoning as presented.  
 
Motion to find that the application is consistent with the objectives and goals in the City’s 2017 
Comprehensive Land Development Plan Mebane By Design. Specifically, the request: 

 
• Is for properties within the City’s G-4, Secondary Growth Area and G-2, Jones Drive and 

South Mebane Oaks Road Residential Growth Area and proposes a mix of residential and 
light commercial uses (Mebane CLP, p. 78). 

 
• Encourage a variety of uses in growth strategy areas and in the downtown, 

promote/encourage a village concept that supports compact and walkable 
environments, consistent with Growth Management Goal 1.1 (Mebane CLP, p. 17 & 82) 

 
• Allows for more commercial development to be pedestrian-friendly supporting walking 

between different land uses, consistent with Growth Management Goal 1.6 (Mebane 
CLP, p. 17 & 84) 

 
• Improves safety and pedestrian access across major streets such as Mebane Oaks Road, 

consistent with Public Facilities and Infrastructure Goal 2.1 (Mebane CLP, p. 17 & 84)  
 

William Chapman seconded the mo�on. There was a 4-4 vote, with Keith Hoover, Colin Canell, Susan 
Semonite, and Gale Pe�ford in opposi�on. 
 
David Scot asked why those vo�ng against the mo�on were concerned. Gale Pe�ford described her 
concerns about the private recrea�on space. 

 
David Scott provided an example of the a townhome unit he owns in Hawfields Crossing, which is 
owner-occupied and has a similar setup with backyards owned and maintained by the HOA and 
separated by a partition. He shared there will likely be restrictions with the proposed development 
about what can be placed in the backyards to allow for proper maintenance by property 
management and landscaping. Keith Hoover asked to change his vote considering the new 
information.  

 
Vice-Chair Taylor called for a new vote to be taken. Kurt Pearson asked if as acting Chair, if the Vice-
Chair had a vote. Ashley Ownbey replied that the first motion died, and a new motion would be 
considered. Tom Boney Jr. asked for clarification on whether the Chairman or Vice-Chairman of the 
Planning Board could vote, citing that only Mayor is a non-voting member. Ashley Ownbey replied 



Planning Board 
Minutes to the Meeting 

September 18, 2023, 6:30 p.m. 

 
Mr. Boney is correct and that all Planning Board members, including the Chair, are required to vote.  

 
David Scott made a motion to approve as presented previously. William Chapman seconded the 
motion, which passed by a vote of 6-2. Susan Semonite and Gale Pettiford voted in opposition. 

 
Vice-Chair Taylor noted that the request will go to the City Council on October 2, 2023, at 6 p.m.  

5. New Business 
Ashley Ownbey commented that staff had included markup to the “Bylaws and Rules of Procedure” 
in the Planning Board packet. She requested members of the Planning Board provide comments to 
staff by Friday, September 29. Staff will compile the comments and discussion will occur at the 
October meeting of the Planning Board. After the October meeting, staff will discuss the proposed 
changes with the City Attorney and a final document will be presented at a later meeting. 
 
Kurt Pearson asked what type of comments staff expected. Ashley Ownbey explained the document 
is outdated and this update allows the Planning Board the opportunity to comment on any changes 
to meeting procedures. She said staff could provide rules of procedure from other communities. 
 
Judy Taylor asked if it was possible to request developers provide meeting notes from their 
neighborhood meetings. Ashley Ownbey responded that the UDO does allow Planning Board to 
make this request. 

 
6. Adjournment 

Vice -Chair Taylor adjourned the meeting at approximately 7:34 p.m. 
 



 P a g e  | 1 

AGENDA ITEM #4 
SUP 23-02 
Special Use Permit – 920 
Mattress Factory Road 

Presenter 
Briana Perkins, City Planner 

Applicant 
VM Development, LLC 
PO Box 984 
Asheboro, NC 27204 

Public Hearing 
Yes  No  (Quasi-Judicial) 

 
  

Site Plan 

 
 
 

Property 
920 Mattress 
Factory Road 

Orange County 
GPIN: 9824778854 

Proposed Zoning 
N/A 

Current Zoning 
HM 

Size 
+/-5.28 acres 

Surrounding 
Zoning 
HM 

Surrounding Land 
Uses 
Vacant, Industrial, 
Commercial 

Utilities 
Available 

Floodplain 
No 

Watershed 
No 

City Limits 
No 



A g e n d a  I t e m  c o n t i n u e d   P a g e  | 2 

Application Brief 
See Planning Project Report for more details. 

Recommendations 

Technical Review Committee: 
The Technical Review Committee (TRC) has reviewed the site plan four 
times and the applicant has revised the plan to reflect the comments.  

Planning Staff: 
The proposed development of a concrete plant on Mattress Factory 
Rorad is consistent with the guidance provided within Mebane By 
Design, the Mebane Comprehensive Land Development Plan.  

Zoning & Land Use Report 

Jurisdiction: Mebane Extraterritorial Jurisdiction 

Proposed Use By-Right (Yes/No): No 

Type of Rezoning Request: N/A 

Special Use Request (Yes/No): Yes 

Consistency with Mebane By Design (Yes/No):  Yes 

Utilities Report 

Available Utilities (Yes/No): Yes 

Adequate Stormwater Control (Yes/No): Yes 

Innovative Stormwater Control (Yes/No): No 

Consistency with Long-Range Utility Plan (Yes/No): Yes 

Transportation Report 

Traffic Impact Analysis Required (Yes/No): No 

Multi-Modal Improvements (Yes/No): Yes 

Consistency with Bike/Ped Transportation Plan (Yes/No):  Yes 

 
 
 
 
  



A g e n d a  I t e m  c o n t i n u e d   P a g e  | 3 

Summary 
VM Development, LLC is requesting approval for a Special Use Permit to allow for the development of a 
concrete plant on a +/- 5.28 -acre parcel located at 920 Mattress Factory Road. The subject property is 
currently zoned Heavy Manufacturing (HM) and includes a single-family dwelling. The manufacturing of 
concrete is only allowed in the HM Zoning District with a Special Use Permit. Surrounding uses are largely 
industrial, with some vacant and underdeveloped land adjacent to the site and a nearby commercial use 
on Industrial Drive. The property is located in an industrial growth strategy area as identified by Mebane By 
Design, the Mebane Comprehensive Land Development Plan. The site plan has been reviewed for 
compliance with the Mebane Unified Development Ordinance (UDO). 

Financial Impact 
The developer will be required to make all of the improvements shown on the site plan at his own expense. 

Suggested Motion 

1. Motion to approve the Special Use Permit as presented; and, 
 

2. Motion to find that the request is both reasonable and in the public interest because it has been found 
that the request: 

a. Will not materially endanger the public health or safety; 
b. Will not substantially injure the value of adjoining or abutting property; 
c. Will be in harmony with the area in which it is located; and 
d. Will be in conformity with the land development plan or other plans officially adopted by 

the City Council.  
OR 
 
1. Motion to deny the special use permit as presented due to a failure to satisfy any one of the four criteria 

required for approval (NOTE: criterion for failure must be specified): 
a. Will materially endanger the public health or safety; or 
b. Will substantially injure the value of adjoining or abutting property; or 
c. Will not be in harmony with the area in which it is located; or 
d. Will not be in conformity with the land development plan or other plans officially adopted 

by the City Council. 

Attachments 
1. Preliminary Presentation Slides 
2. Special Use Permit Application 
3. Site Plan  
4. Planning Project Report   
5. Technical Memorandum – City Engineering Review 





Concrete Plant
Special Use Request



Concrete Plant
Special Use Request



Concrete Plant
Special Use Request



Concrete Plant
Special Use Request



Concrete Plant
Special Use Request





Mebane Concrete Plan
920 Mattress Factory Road



Will not materially endanger the public health or safety

Traffic
• Addition of approximately 75 trips per day

• Intersection of Mattress Factory Rd and Industrial Dr
• 2019 traffic count – 2900 (2.59% increase)

• Intersection of Industrial Dr and Buckhorn Rd
• 2019 traffic count – 3900 (1.92% increase)

Water Quality
• Bioretention cell



Will not materially endanger the public health or safety

• Requires NCDEQ Air Quality Permit
• Particulate Control Requirements – 15A NCAC 2D .0515
• Visible Emissions Control Requirements - 15A NCAC 2D .0521
• New Source Performance Standards - 15A NCAC 2D .0524
• Notification Requirements - 15A NCAC 2D .0535
• Fugitive Dust Control Requirements - 15A NCAC 2D .0540
• Fabric Filter Requirement - 15A NCAC 2D .0611
• Records Retention Requirement - 15A NCAC 2D .0605



Will not substantially injure the value of adjoining or 
abutting property



Will be in harmony with the area in which it is to be 
located

• Armacell LLC Distribution Center (1300 ft West)
• Kingsdown Mattress Factory (642 ft West)
• Whites Tire Service (Across Mattress Factory Rd)
• Dealers Supply Warehouse (North)
• AKG Thermal Systems (644 ft)
• Penske Mebane Service (1000 ft)
• Vacant Land (East)



Will be in general conformity with the land use plan or 
other plans and policies officially adopted by the City 
Council





Orange County

May 22, 2023

0 0.02 0.040.01 mi

0 0.03 0.060.015 km

1:1,220

 
 

9824778854PIN:
VM DEVELOPMENT LLCOWNER 1:
 

MAJ P/O 38-46 PO 35-37 & 47-48 BRIGHTLEGAL DESC:

6718/1392DEED REF:
1

BLDG_VALUE:
$76,600LAND VALUE:

$0USE VALUE:
$167,700TOTAL VALUE:

5.28 ASIZE: BUILDING COUNT:

$91,100
OWNER 2:

ADDRESS 1:
ADDRESS 2:

524 W BAILEY ST
 

CITY: ASHEBORO
STATE, ZIP: NC 27203

RATECODE: 03

DATE SOLD: 04/21/2021
BLDG SQFT: 1210
YEAR BUILT: 1942 TAX STAMPS: 800

TOWNSHIP CHEEKS

This map contains parcels prepared for the inventory of real property within Orange County, and is compiled from recorded deed, plats, and other public records and data. 
 Users of this map are hereby notified that the aforementioned public primary information sources should be consulted for verification of the information contained on this map.  

The county and its mapping companies assume no legal responsibility for the information on this map.























 

PAGE 1 

PLANNING PROJECT REPORT 
DATE 09/20/2023 
PROJECT NUMBER SUP 23-02 
PROJECT NAME Concrete Plant – Mattress Factory Road 

APPLICANT 
VM Development, LLC 
PO Box 984 
Asheboro, NC 27204 

 

CONTENTS 
PROJECT NAME & APPLICANT ........................................................................................... PAGE 1 
ZONING REPORT ............................................................................................................... PAGE 2 
LAND USE REPORT ............................................................................................................ PAGE 4 
UTILITIES REPORT .............................................................................................................. PAGE 6 
STAFF SPECIAL USE CONSISTENCY FINDING ....................................................................... PAGE 7



 

PAGE 2 

ZONING REPORT 
EXISTING ZONE HM, Heavy Manufacturing 
REQUESTED ACTION N/A 
CONDITIONAL ZONE? YES   NO 
CURRENT LAND USE Vacant, Single-Family  
PARCEL SIZE  +/- 5.28 acres 

PROPERTY OWNERS 

VM Development, LLC 
PO Box 984 
Asheboro, NC 27204 
GPIN: 9824778854 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION 
Request for a Special Use Permit to allow for a concrete plant on the +/- 5.28-acre 
parcel located at 920 Mattress Factory Road (GPIN: 9824778854) by VM 
Development, LLC. 

AREA ZONING & DISTRICTS 

Surrounding properties are zoned HM, Heavy Manufacturing. Across the interstate, 
most of the properties are zoned Agricultural Residential and Rural Residential by 
Orange County and one site is zoned LM (CD), Light Manufacturing Conditional 
District. 

SITE HISTORY The property was improved with a single-family residence in the 1940s. 
STAFF ANALYSIS 

CITY LIMITS? YES   NO  
PROPOSED USE BY-RIGHT? YES   NO  
SPECIAL USE? YES   NO 
EXISTING UTILITIES? YES   NO 
POTENTIAL IMPACT OF 
PROPOSED ZONE 

There is no rezoning request, only a special use request to allow for a concrete plant. 



 

PAGE 3 

 



 

PAGE 4 

 
LAND USE REPORT 

EXISTING LAND USE Vacant, Single-Family  

PROPOSED LAND USE & 
REQUESTED ACTION 

Request for a Special Use Permit to allow for a concrete plant on the +/- 
5.28-acre parcel located at 920 Mattress Factory Road (GPIN: 9824778854) 
by VM Development, LLC. 

PROPOSED ZONING N/A 
PARCEL SIZE +/- 5.28 acres 

AREA LAND USE 

The subject property is located at the intersection of Mattress Factory Road 
and Industrial Drive. The properties to the west include a tire business and 
an abandoned home. Various industrial uses are to the north, including 
Penske Truck Rental and AKG. The properties to the east include vacant 
property and industrial and commercial uses. Residential and agricultural 
uses are across the interstate along with Buckhorn Business Centre. 

ONSITE AMENITIES & DEDICATIONS 
The developer is responsible for installing public sidewalk along the street 
frontages. 

CONDITIONAL ZONE? YES   NO 
DESCRIPTION OF PROPOSED 
CONDITIONS 
 

N/A 

  

CONSISTENCY WITH MEBANE BY DESIGN STRATEGY 
LAND USE GROWTH STRATEGY 
DESIGNATION(S) 

G-2, Industrial 
 

OTHER LAND USE CONSIDERATIONS  

MEBANE BY DESIGN GOALS & 
OBJECTIVES SUPPORTED 

  

   

MEBANE BY DESIGN GOALS & 
OBJECTIVES NOT SUPPORTED 

 



 

PAGE 5 

 



 

PAGE 6 

UTILITIES REPORT 
AVAILABLE UTILITIES YES   NO 

PROPOSED UTILITY NEEDS 

The proposed sewer service to the building is 4-inch. The 
proposed water service is 6-inch for fire flow at the site fire 
hydrant and reduced to 4-inch for industrial use with 
appropriate metering and backflow device. An NCDOT 
encroachment agreement will be required for the proposed 
utility connections. 

UTILITIES PROVIDED BY APPLICANT Applicant has pledged to provide all on-site utilities, as 
described in AWCK’s Technical Memo. 

MUNICIPAL CAPACITY TO ABSORB 
PROJECT  

The City has adequate water & sewer supply to meet the 
domestic and fire flow demands of the project.  

CONSISTENCY WITH MEBANE LONG 
RANGE UTILITY PLAN? 

YES   NO 

ADEQUATE STORMWATER 
CONTROL? 

YES   NO 

INNOVATIVE STORMWATER 
MANAGEMENT? 

YES   NO   N/A 

TRANSPORTATION NETWORK STATUS 

CURRENT CONDITIONS 

The subject property is on the corner of Mattress Factory Road 
and Industrial Drive. The site plan features driveway connections 
on Mattress Factory Road and Industrial Drive. Both roads are 
maintained by the NCDOT.  
 
Mattress Factory Road had an average daily traffic volume of 
2,700 trips in 2021. The section of Mattress Factory Road has a 
safety score of 89, with four crashes reported from 2018 to 
2022. The section of Industrial Drive at the subject property has 
a safety score of 78 with two crashes reported from 2018 to 
2022. There was one bicyclist accident with serious injury in the 
area in 2022. 

TRAFFIC IMPACT ANALYSIS 
REQUIRED? 

YES   NO 

DESCRIPTION OF RECOMMENDED 
IMPROVEMENTS 

N/A 

CONSISTENCY WITH THE MEBANE 
BICYCLE AND PEDESTRIAN 
TRANSPORTATION PLAN? 

 
YES   NO 
 

MULTIMODAL IMPROVEMENTS 
PROVIDED BY APPLICANT? 

YES   NO 

DESCRIPTION OF MULTIMODAL 
IMPROVEMENTS 

As shown on the site plan, the developer will install sidewalk 
along the street frontages. 



 

PAGE 7 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION  
 APPROVE    DISAPPROVE 

STAFF SPECIAL USE FINDING 
 CONSISTENT    NOT CONSISTENT………………..WITH MEBANE BY 
DESIGN 

RATIONALE 

The proposed development “Concrete Plant” is consistent with the 
guidance provided within Mebane By Design, the Mebane 
Comprehensive Land Development Plan.  

PUBLIC INTEREST CONFORMANCE? 
ENDANGER PUBLIC HEALTH OR 
SAFETY? 

YES    NO 

SUBSTANTIALLY INJURE THE 
VALUE OF ADJOINING OR 
ABUTTING PROPERTY?  

YES    NO 

HARMONIOUS WITH THE AREA 
IN WHICH IT IS LOCATED?  

 YES   NO 

CONSISTENT WITH MEBANE BY 
DESIGN, THE MUNICIPAL 
COMPREHENSIVE LAND 
DEVELOPMENT PLAN? 

   The application is consistent with the objectives and  
policies for growth and development contained in the 
City of Mebane Comprehensive Land Development Plan, 
Mebane By Design, and, as such, has been 
recommended for approval. 

          The application is not fully consistent with the objectives  
and policies for growth and development of the City of 
Mebane Comprehensive Land Development Plan, 
Mebane By Design, but is otherwise in the public 
interest and has been recommended for approval. The 
Comprehensive Land Development Plan must be 
amended to reflect this approval and ensure 
consistency for the City of Mebane’s long-range 
planning objectives and policies. 

          The application is not consistent with the objectives and  
policies for growth and development of the City of 
Mebane Comprehensive Land Development Plan, 
Mebane By Design, and, as such, has been 
recommended for denial. 

 



 
 
 

Technical Memo 

Date: 10-03-23 

From: Franz Holt, City Engineer 

To: Ashley Ownbey, Development Director 

Subject: Proposed Concrete Plant on Mattress Factory Road 

 

The Engineering Department has completed its review of a proposed concrete plant located on a currently 

vacant 5.28-acre parcel along Mattress Factory Road (SR 1302) and VM Development LLC of Asheboro, NC.   

Our technical review comments are as follows: 

 

A. The preliminary site plans prepared by Wescott, Small & Associates, PLLC of Greensboro, NC Triad 

Design include driveway connections to Mattress Factory Road (SR 1302) and Industrial Drive (SR 

13674) requiring NCDOT driveway permits with the change in property use.  No TIA was required for 

the project. 

 

B. The site is to be landscaped along Mattress Factory Road and Industrial Drive frontage.  Additionally, 

landscaped planting yards are required along the perimeter of the property against adjacent owners. 

 

C. Industrial activities associated with the concrete plant will be fenced with gated driveway entrances. 

 

D. A stormwater permit will be required for the site development with treatment in accordance with City 

of Mebane requirements (Runoff from 1-inch rain and detention for 10-year design storm post vs. 

pre.).  A bioretention basin is proposed for the treatment of stormwater runoff as the proposed built 

upon area of 30.11 percent exceeds the 24 percent threshold for low density development without 

stormwater controls. 

 

E. Water and Sewer service connections will be made to City of Mebane lines requiring annexation of the 

site.  The proposed sewer service to the building is 4-inch.  The proposed water service is 6-inch for fire 

flow at the site fire hydrant and reduced to 4-inch for industrial use with appropriate metering and 

backflow device.  Domestic water service to the building is 1-inch with meter and backflow device.  

Connections and extensions will be to City of Mebane standards and requirements. An NCDOT 

encroachment agreement will be required for the proposed utility connections. 

 

F. The site is properly zoned as Heavy Manufacturing and requires a special use permit. 

 

G. Final construction drawings are required to be submitted for TRC review. 

 

 

 

CITY OF MEBANE 106 East Washington Street | Mebane, NC 27302   (919) 563 5901       fholt@cityofmebane.com 

  W W W . C I T Y O F M E B A N E . C O M  

mailto:fholt@cityofmebane.com
http://www.cityofmebane.com/


 P a g e  | 1 

AGENDA ITEM #5 
RZ 23-07 
Conditional Rezoning – NCIC Rail 
Transload 

Presenter 
Ashley Ownbey, Development Director 

Applicant 
Samet Corporation 
309 Gallimore Dairy Road 
Greensboro, NC 27409 

Public Hearing 
Yes   No  

 

  

Zoning Map 
 

 

Property 
1268 West Holt 
Street 

Unaddressed 

Alamance County 
GPINs:  9815147486; 
9815242044; 
9815125977 

Proposed Zoning 
HM (CD) 

Current Zoning 
LM & HM 

Size 
 +/-8.03 acres  

Surrounding Zoning 
HM, LM, R-20, B-3 

Surrounding Land 
Uses 
Industrial, Residential 

Utilities 
Available 

Floodplain 
No 

Watershed 
No 

City Limits 
No 



A g e n d a  I t e m  c o n t i n u e d   P a g e  | 2 

Application Brief 
See Planning Project Report for more details. 

Recommendations 

Technical Review Committee: 
The Technical Review Committee (TRC) has reviewed the site plan 
three times and the applicant has revised the plan to reflect the 
comments.  

Planning Staff: 
The proposed development “NCIC Rail Transload” is consistent with 
the guidance provided within Mebane By Design, the Mebane 
Comprehensive Land Development Plan.  

Zoning & Land Use Report 

Jurisdiction: Mebane Extraterritorial Jurisdiction (ETJ) 

Proposed Use By-Right (Yes/No): No 

Type of Rezoning Request: Conditional 

Special Use Request (Yes/No): No 

Consistency with Mebane By Design (Yes/No):  Yes 

Utilities Report 

Available Utilities (Yes/No): Yes 

Adequate Stormwater Control (Yes/No): Yes 

Innovative Stormwater Control (Yes/No): No 

Consistency with Long-Range Utility Plan (Yes/No): Yes 

Transportation Report 

Traffic Impact Analysis Required (Yes/No): No 

Multi-Modal Improvements (Yes/No): No 

Consistency with Bike/Ped Transportation Plan (Yes/No):  No 

 

 

 

 



A g e n d a  I t e m  c o n t i n u e d   P a g e  | 3 

Summary 
Samet Corporation is requesting approval to conditionally rezone one property and portions of two other 
properties (GPINs 9815147486; 9815242044; 9815125977), totaling +/- 8.03 acres and located with 
frontages on West Holt Street, Lake Latham Road, and Sun Ray Lane from HM and LM to HM (CD) to allow 
for a rail transload facility. A conceptual site plan is included with the request and shows recombination of 
the subject parcels. The properties are located in Alamance County in the Mebane Extraterritorial 
Jurisdiction (ETJ). The applicant has agreed to petition for annexation.  

The following conditions are proposed with the conditional rezoning request:  

Proposed Conditions of Zoning District Mebane UDO Requirements 

The subject properties are part of the master plan 
for the North Carolina Industrial Center (NCIC) 
developed in the early 2000s. Restrictive covenants 
were established for this industrial park and include 
specific standards for building setbacks and height 
and landscaping requirements. 

The following dimensional standards are requested: 
− Front: 100’  
− Side: 30’ 
− Rear: 20’ 
− Maximum Building Height: 50’ 

 
At minimum 10’ landscape buffers are shown on the 
site plan, with wider buffer areas shown in certain 
areas. 

Table 4-2-1 of the Mebane UDO defines density and 
dimensional requirements.  

The following dimensional standards are required of 
development in the HM Zoning District: 

− Front: 50’ 
− Side: 50’ 
− Rear: 20’ 
− Maximum Building Height: 150’ 

Tables 6-4-1 and 6-4-3 defines perimeter buffer and 
streetscape requirements. Larger buffers, between 
70’ and 125’, are required between railyards and 
residentially-used and -zoned properties. Landscape 
buffers between adjoining industrial uses and zones 
range from 10’ to 20’. 

 

Financial Impact 
The developer will be required to make all of the improvements at his own expense. 

Suggested Motion 
1. Motion to approve the HM(CD) zoning as presented.  
 
2. Motion to find that the application is consistent with the objectives and goals in the City’s 2017 

Comprehensive Land Development Plan Mebane By Design. Specifically, the request: 
 
 Is for a property within the City’s G-1 NC 119 Bypass and US 70 Mixed Use Growth Area and is part 

of the North Carolina Industrial Center (Mebane CLP, p. 70). 
 
OR 



A g e n d a  I t e m  c o n t i n u e d   P a g e  | 4 

 
3. Motion to deny the HM (CD) rezoning as presented due to a lack of 

 
a. Harmony with the surrounding zoning or land use 

OR 
b. Consistency with the objectives and goals in the City’s 2017 Comprehensive Land Development 

Plan Mebane By Design. 
 

Attachments 
1. Preliminary Presentation Slides 
2. Zoning Amendment Application 
3. Zoning Map 
4. Site Plan 
5. Planning Project Report  
6. Technical Memorandum – City Engineering Review 

 





NCIC Rail Transload
Conditional Rezoning



NCIC Rail Transload
Conditional Rezoning



NCIC Rail Transload
Conditional Rezoning



NCIC Rail Transload
Conditional Rezoning

G-1 Mixed Use

Secondary



NCIC Rail Transload
Conditional Rezoning





North Carolina 
Industrial Center 
(NCIC)
Transload Rail Facility
MONDAY, OCTOBER 9, 2023
BRIAN HALL
BHALL@SAMETCORP.COM
HUNTER NICHOLS
HNICHOLS@SAMETCORP.COM 

mailto:bhall@sametcorp.com
mailto:hnichols@sametcorp.com


Transload – A Long Time in the Making
2001 2010

Rail Spur / Rail Access

20142011



Transload Rail Key Points
 Planning began 2001

 Managed by a non-profit that will own, 
operate, and maintain the facility. 

 Keep costs low to enhance access and 
utilization

 Add to Mebane & Alamance’s competitive 
advantage for industry growth

 Continuation of Existing Usage of Rail by 
Cambro and extend current rail further to 
allow for on site storage

 Site to accommodate (10) Rail Cars 

 No hazardous materials to be allowed to 
be transported via Transload Facility



Current Zoning

Proposed



Transload Site Plan



Transload Site Plan



Neighborhood Meeting

 Neighborhood Meeting was held at noon on Tuesday, October 3, 
2023

 Notes:
 Invite sent out to the 42 property owners within the notification radius

 Attended by Ellis Family

 Overview of history of NCIC and our proposed project

 Ellis Family had no concerns with the project



Transload Rail Facility Action Requested

• Action Items:
• Rezoning of site from Heavy Manufacturing to Heavy Manufacturing, Conditional 

District







©

©

©

©

©

©

©

©

©

©CURVE#3

CURVE#4

CURVE#1

CURVE#2

©

©

©

©

©

©

©

©

©

©

©

©

CXXX

SITE
PLAN

OVERALL

Date:

Sheet:

AUGUST, 2023

23-061

Drawn: Check:

Job Number:

PRELIMINARY

NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION

LA
KE

 LA
TH

AM
 R

OA
D

ME
BA

NE
, N

OR
TH

 C
AR

OL
IN

A

NC
IC

 R
AI

L T
RA

NS
LO

AD
 S

ITE

This drawing & the details herein, as an instrument of
service, is the property of Triad Design Group, PC, and
may be used only for this specific project and shall not
be loaned, copied, or reproduced in any form without
expressed written consent from Triad Design Group,
PC. Copyright © 2023. Triad Design Group, PC, All
rights reserved.

Triad Design Group, PC, shall not be responsible for
cons t ruct i on means,  me thods ,  techn iques ,  or
procedures utilized by the contractor, nor for the safety
of public or contractor's employees; or for the failure of
the contractor to carry out the work in accordance with
t he  con t rac t  document s .                                                             .

1

A
SHEET TITLE:

NO DATE DESCRIPTION
REVISIONS:

DATE DESCRIPTION
SUBMITTALS:

10/11/2021 PRELIMINARY

B

C

D

A

B

C

D

2 3 4 5

1 2 3 4 5

Architecture    Engineering    Interior Design

4807 Koger Boulevard Suite C
Greensboro, NC 27407

Telephone 336-218-8282

8430 University Executive
Park Drive Suite 650
Charlotte, NC 28262

Telephone 704-312-0140
www.triad-designgroup.com

NC Architecture Reg.  50709
NC Engineering Lic.   C-1108

MWJ

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX CONC. BASIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
PERM. ACCESS ESMT

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
BFP

AutoCAD SHX Text
BFP

AutoCAD SHX Text
VAULT

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
BFP

AutoCAD SHX Text
FDC

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX SWITCH

AutoCAD SHX Text
WARNING POST

AutoCAD SHX Text
BURIED CABLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
ASPHALT ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX GARAGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
OHW

AutoCAD SHX Text
OHW

AutoCAD SHX Text
OHW

AutoCAD SHX Text
OHW

AutoCAD SHX Text
OHW

AutoCAD SHX Text
OHW

AutoCAD SHX Text
OHW

AutoCAD SHX Text
OHW

AutoCAD SHX Text
OHW

AutoCAD SHX Text
OHW

AutoCAD SHX Text
OHW

AutoCAD SHX Text
OHW

AutoCAD SHX Text
OHW

AutoCAD SHX Text
OHW

AutoCAD SHX Text
OHW

AutoCAD SHX Text
OHW

AutoCAD SHX Text
OHW

AutoCAD SHX Text
OHW

AutoCAD SHX Text
OHW

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX RAIL SPUR

AutoCAD SHX Text
RAIL SPUR

AutoCAD SHX Text
POINT

AutoCAD SHX Text
OF FROG

AutoCAD SHX Text
SD

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX GRAVEL TRACK BED 

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX GRAVEL TRACK BED

AutoCAD SHX Text
MOUND

AutoCAD SHX Text
MOUND

AutoCAD SHX Text
HIGH TENSION

AutoCAD SHX Text
POWER LINES

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX ASPHALT ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRAVEL DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
MOUND

AutoCAD SHX Text
MOUND

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX GRAVEL DRIVE 

AutoCAD SHX Text
SD

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX 12" PVC

AutoCAD SHX Text
INV 604.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
SOURCE NOT

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOUND

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX OLD CHAIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
LINK FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX OLD CHAIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
LINK FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX OLD CHAIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
LINK FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
OHW

AutoCAD SHX Text
OHW

AutoCAD SHX Text
OHW

AutoCAD SHX Text
OHW

AutoCAD SHX Text
OHW

AutoCAD SHX Text
OHW

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX GRAVEL DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DITCH

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX FOUNDATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
IN RUINS

AutoCAD SHX Text
INV 575.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX 2" METAL PIPE

AutoCAD SHX Text
OVER DITCH

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX 2" PVC PIPE

AutoCAD SHX Text
OVER DITCH

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX 12" RCP

AutoCAD SHX Text
576.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
DB 2799 PG 569

AutoCAD SHX Text
FAMILY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP

AutoCAD SHX Text
THE CLIFFORD M. RAY, JR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PB 66 PG 76 LOT 1 (PART)

AutoCAD SHX Text
NCIC FUTURE DEVELOPMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
SUN RAY LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text
50' PRIVATE R/W ESMT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PB 66 PG 76 / 

AutoCAD SHX Text
PB 6 PG 2

AutoCAD SHX Text
60' PUBLIC R/W

AutoCAD SHX Text
[SR 1976]

AutoCAD SHX Text
TAX PARCEL #164905

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAKE LATHAM RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
IPF

AutoCAD SHX Text
L-4

AutoCAD SHX Text
311.56'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N 82°32'45" E

AutoCAD SHX Text
117.99'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S 07°00'21" E

AutoCAD SHX Text
107.25'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S 03°49'47" W

AutoCAD SHX Text
L-9

AutoCAD SHX Text
L-8

AutoCAD SHX Text
L-7

AutoCAD SHX Text
L-6

AutoCAD SHX Text
C-1

AutoCAD SHX Text
L-6

AutoCAD SHX Text
IPF

AutoCAD SHX Text
3" IPF

AutoCAD SHX Text
IPF

AutoCAD SHX Text
R/W

AutoCAD SHX Text
R/W

AutoCAD SHX Text
R/W

AutoCAD SHX Text
R/W

AutoCAD SHX Text
IPF

AutoCAD SHX Text
IPF

AutoCAD SHX Text
IPF

AutoCAD SHX Text
IPF

AutoCAD SHX Text
IPF

AutoCAD SHX Text
SUN RAY LANE 

AutoCAD SHX Text
PB 6 PG 2

AutoCAD SHX Text
1309.70'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S 08°54'28" W

AutoCAD SHX Text
C-2

AutoCAD SHX Text
L-20

AutoCAD SHX Text
R/W

AutoCAD SHX Text
222.85'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N 83°26'10" W

AutoCAD SHX Text
465.51'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N 12°38'54" E

AutoCAD SHX Text
762.50'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S 09°28'30" W

AutoCAD SHX Text
L-21

AutoCAD SHX Text
L-22

AutoCAD SHX Text
C-3

AutoCAD SHX Text
C-4

AutoCAD SHX Text
L-23

AutoCAD SHX Text
R/W

AutoCAD SHX Text
R/W

AutoCAD SHX Text
R/W

AutoCAD SHX Text
R/W

AutoCAD SHX Text
R/W

AutoCAD SHX Text
R/W

AutoCAD SHX Text
PUBLIC R/W VARIES

AutoCAD SHX Text
[SR 1976]

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAKE LATHAM RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PUBLIC R/W VARIES

AutoCAD SHX Text
[SR 1963]

AutoCAD SHX Text
W. HOLT ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
TBM

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX 15" RCP INV(N) 619.4  INV(S) 619.1 

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/F  WILLIAM EARL JAMES  DB 1305 PG 640  TAX PARCEL #164852 ZONED: R-20 USE: RESIDENTIAL LUC:2

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/F  ROBERT A. FERRAR TRUST DB 3533 PG 607 TAX PARCEL #164842 ZONED: R-20 USE: RESIDENTIAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/F  ANDREA L. JONES & MARSHALL W. JONES DB 3533 PG 607 TAX PARCEL #164841 ZONED: R-20 USE: RSDIENTIAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/F  JACK M. FLORENCE HEIRS (SEE DB 398 PG 4)  TAX PARCEL #164840 ZONED: R-20 USE: VACANT

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/F  RUBY FLORENCE  DB 641 PG 180  TAX PARCEL #164839 ZONED: R-20 USE: VACANT

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/F  ROBERT V. KERNODLE DB 1697 PG 738  TAX PARCEL #164838 ZONED: R-20 USE: VACANT

AutoCAD SHX Text
THE CLIFFORD M. RAY, JR. FAMILY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP DB 2799 PG 569   TAX PARCEL #16436-16438 ZONED: LM (LIGHT MANUFACTURING) USE: VACANT

AutoCAD SHX Text
NCIC FUTURE DEVELOPMENT 

AutoCAD SHX Text
PART OF TAX PARCEL #164905 PB 66 PG 76 PART OF LOT 1 ZONED: USE: VACANT

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/F  A CAMPBELL HOLDINGS, LLC  DB 3331 PG 570  TAX PARCEL #172092 ZONED: HM (HEAVY MANUFACTURING)

AutoCAD SHX Text
NCIC PHASE 3, LOT 1 PB 76 PG 221

AutoCAD SHX Text
R/W LINE L-21 TO L-23 PER DB 3799 PG 612

AutoCAD SHX Text
THE CLIFFORD M. RAY, JR.  FAMILY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP  DB 2799 PG 569  (SEE ALSO PB 76 PG 221)  TAX PARCEL #164853 ZONED: HM (HEAVY MANUFACTURING) & LM (LIGHT MANUFACTURING) USE: VACANT

AutoCAD SHX Text
NCIC FUTURE DEVELOPMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
UTILITY LOCATOR UBABLE TO LOCATE TELECOM. LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
THE CLIFFORD M. RAY, JR.  FAMILY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP DB 2799 PG 569 PART OF TAX PARCEL #172092

AutoCAD SHX Text
NCIC FUTURE DEVELOPMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX  METAL TOWER

AutoCAD SHX Text
SITE CONTROL PT. #13001  MAGNETIC NAIL SET  N.C. GRID COORDS (NAD 83/2011) N(y) = 854,781.99' E(x) = 1,911,780.74' ELEV = 635.95'

AutoCAD SHX Text
200' NORTH CAROLINA RAILROAD COMPANY R/W SEE PB 76 PG 221 SEE DB 2251 PG 485

AutoCAD SHX Text
THE CLIFFORD M. RAY, JR.  FAMILY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP DB 2799 PG 569  TAX PARCEL #164818

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 25A, PHASE 3 PB 83 PP 147-149

AutoCAD SHX Text
(IN)

AutoCAD SHX Text
CITY LIMITS

AutoCAD SHX Text
(OUT)

AutoCAD SHX Text
(IN)

AutoCAD SHX Text
CITY LIMITS

AutoCAD SHX Text
(OUT)

AutoCAD SHX Text
(IN)

AutoCAD SHX Text
CITY LIMITS

AutoCAD SHX Text
(OUT)

AutoCAD SHX Text
(IN)

AutoCAD SHX Text
CITY LIMITS

AutoCAD SHX Text
(OUT)

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/F  JOHN RAY OF MEBANCE INC  DB 1173 PG 449  TAX PARCEL #164851 ZONED: B-3 (NEIGHBORHOOD BUSINESS) USE: AUTO SALVAGE LUC:7

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/F  TYLER S STOKES CATHERINE M  COLE DB 4389 PG 383  TAX PARCEL #164850 ZONED: R-20 (RESIDENTIAL) LUC:2

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/F  JOHN W DANIEL JESSICA L W DANIEL DB 3334 PG 841  TAX PARCEL #164849 ZONED: R-20 (RESIDENTIAL) LUC:2

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/F  B & B PROPERTIES  OF ALA CO LLC DB 2597 PG 694 PB 6 PG 2  TAX PARCEL #164848 ZONED: R-20 (RESIDENTIAL) LUC:2

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/F  PETER D ELLIS PAULA-JEANNE ELLIS DB 3970 PG 456 PB 63 PG 151  TAX PARCEL #164846 ZONED: R-20 (RESIDENTIAL) LUC:2

AutoCAD SHX Text
CITY LIMITS

AutoCAD SHX Text
CITY LIMITS

AutoCAD SHX Text
(LOCAL)

AutoCAD SHX Text
(PRIVATE)

AutoCAD SHX Text
(RESIDENTIAL PRIVATE)

AutoCAD SHX Text
PB 6 PG 2

AutoCAD SHX Text
(RESIDENTIAL PRIVATE)

AutoCAD SHX Text
(LOCAL)

AutoCAD SHX Text
(LOCAL)

AutoCAD SHX Text
OUT 601.03

AutoCAD SHX Text
BOTTOM 598.21

AutoCAD SHX Text
8" CMP IN 601.10

AutoCAD SHX Text
2" WEEPHOLE 606.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOP/RISER 608.03

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOP/TRASH RACK 610.36

AutoCAD SHX Text
36" METAL RISER

AutoCAD SHX Text
605.97

AutoCAD SHX Text
36" RCP

AutoCAD SHX Text
605.84

AutoCAD SHX Text
36" RCP

AutoCAD SHX Text
BAFFLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIPRAP

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIPRAP

AutoCAD SHX Text
SPILLWAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIPRAP

AutoCAD SHX Text
BAFFLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIRPAP

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIPRAP

AutoCAD SHX Text
599.62

AutoCAD SHX Text
12" CMP

AutoCAD SHX Text
ZONED: LM (LIGHT MANUFACTURING)

AutoCAD SHX Text
ZONED: LM (LIGHT MANUFACTURING)

AutoCAD SHX Text
NCIC FUTURE DEVELOPMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
USE: UNDEVELOPED

AutoCAD SHX Text
 THE RAILROAD ASSOCIATES CORP. (TRAC) WWW.RAILROADTRAC.COM

AutoCAD SHX Text
 THE RAILROAD ASSOCIATES CORP. (TRAC) WWW.RAILROADTRAC.COM

AutoCAD SHX Text
 THE RAILROAD ASSOCIATES CORP. (TRAC) WWW.RAILROADTRAC.COM

AutoCAD SHX Text
 THE RAILROAD ASSOCIATES CORP. (TRAC) WWW.RAILROADTRAC.COM

AutoCAD SHX Text
 THE RAILROAD ASSOCIATES CORP. (TRAC) WWW.RAILROADTRAC.COM

AutoCAD SHX Text
 THE RAILROAD ASSOCIATES CORP. (TRAC) WWW.RAILROADTRAC.COM

AutoCAD SHX Text
 THE RAILROAD ASSOCIATES CORP. (TRAC) WWW.RAILROADTRAC.COM

AutoCAD SHX Text
 THE RAILROAD ASSOCIATES CORP. (TRAC) WWW.RAILROADTRAC.COM

AutoCAD SHX Text
 THE RAILROAD ASSOCIATES CORP. (TRAC) WWW.RAILROADTRAC.COM

AutoCAD SHX Text
 THE RAILROAD ASSOCIATES CORP. (TRAC) WWW.RAILROADTRAC.COM

AutoCAD SHX Text
 THE RAILROAD ASSOCIATES CORP. (TRAC) WWW.RAILROADTRAC.COM

AutoCAD SHX Text
 THE RAILROAD ASSOCIATES CORP. (TRAC) WWW.RAILROADTRAC.COM

AutoCAD SHX Text
 THE RAILROAD ASSOCIATES CORP. (TRAC) WWW.RAILROADTRAC.COM

AutoCAD SHX Text
 THE RAILROAD ASSOCIATES CORP. (TRAC) WWW.RAILROADTRAC.COM

AutoCAD SHX Text
 THE RAILROAD ASSOCIATES CORP. (TRAC) WWW.RAILROADTRAC.COM

AutoCAD SHX Text
 THE RAILROAD ASSOCIATES CORP. (TRAC) WWW.RAILROADTRAC.COM

AutoCAD SHX Text
 THE RAILROAD ASSOCIATES CORP. (TRAC) WWW.RAILROADTRAC.COM

AutoCAD SHX Text
 THE RAILROAD ASSOCIATES CORP. (TRAC) WWW.RAILROADTRAC.COM

AutoCAD SHX Text
 THE RAILROAD ASSOCIATES CORP. (TRAC) WWW.RAILROADTRAC.COM

AutoCAD SHX Text
 THE RAILROAD ASSOCIATES CORP. (TRAC) WWW.RAILROADTRAC.COM

AutoCAD SHX Text
 THE RAILROAD ASSOCIATES CORP. (TRAC) WWW.RAILROADTRAC.COM

AutoCAD SHX Text
 THE RAILROAD ASSOCIATES CORP. (TRAC) WWW.RAILROADTRAC.COM

AutoCAD SHX Text
H 30

AutoCAD SHX Text
VAL STA=1484+84 NOT TO SCALE

AutoCAD SHX Text
STOP

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOOK

AutoCAD SHX Text
PRIVATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CROSSING

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
STOP

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOOK

AutoCAD SHX Text
PRIVATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CROSSING

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP BLOCK RETAINING WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text
FUTURE PARKING

AutoCAD SHX Text
LANDSCAPE BUFFER

AutoCAD SHX Text
LANDSCAPE BUFFER

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCM FOR SITE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP LANDSCAPE YARD W/ EVERGREEN TREES

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP PROPERTY LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARCEL TO BE RECOMBINED INTO SINGLE PARCEL

AutoCAD SHX Text
30'x450' SIGHT DISTANCE TRIANGLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
30'x450' SIGHT DISTANCE TRIANGLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
10'x70' SIGHT TRIANGLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
50x40 FUTURE BLDG

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP RAILROAD BALLAST (TYP)

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPERTY TO BE ANNEXED BY THE CITY OF MEBANE

AutoCAD SHX Text
RELOCATE EX HYD

AutoCAD SHX Text
NO LANDSCAPING WITHIN WATERLINE ESMT GRASS ONLY

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPERTY LINE TO BE ABANDONED WITH RECOMBINATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
.

AutoCAD SHX Text
.

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
U

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
9

AutoCAD SHX Text
9

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWING NAME: P:\2023\NCIC Rail Transload Site 23-061\- Civil\23-061_SITE_C3D22.dwg - OV SITE - 9/28/2023 8:40 AMP:\2023\NCIC Rail Transload Site 23-061\- Civil\23-061_SITE_C3D22.dwg - OV SITE - 9/28/2023 8:40 AM - OV SITE - 9/28/2023 8:40 AMOV SITE - 9/28/2023 8:40 AM - 9/28/2023 8:40 AM9/28/2023 8:40 AM

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE:	1"=60'1"=60'

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
60'

AutoCAD SHX Text
120'

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOTE- BUA ADDED FOR PROPOSED TRANSLOAD YARD WILL BE TREATED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE CITY OF MEBANE STORMWATER ORDINANCE.



 

PAGE 1 

PLANNING PROJECT REPORT 
DATE 10/04/2023 
PROJECT NUMBER RZ 23-07 
PROJECT NAME NCIC Rail Transload  

APPLICANT 
Samet Corporation 
309 Gallimore Dairy Road 
Greensboro, NC 27409 

 

CONTENTS 
PROJECT NAME & APPLICANT ........................................................................................... PAGE 1 
ZONING REPORT ............................................................................................................... PAGE 2 
LAND USE REPORT ............................................................................................................ PAGE 4 
UTILITIES REPORT .............................................................................................................. PAGE 6 
STAFF ZONING REQUEST RECOMMENDATION .................................................................. PAGE 7



 

PAGE 2 

ZONING REPORT 
EXISTING ZONE HM, Heavy Manufacturing & LM, Light Manufacturing 
REQUESTED ACTION HM (CD) (Heavy Manufacturing, Conditional District) 
CONDITIONAL ZONE? YES   NO 
CURRENT LAND USE Vacant, Rail Spur 
PARCEL SIZE  +/- 8.03 acres 

PROPERTY OWNERS 

Clifford M. Ray, Jr. Family Limited Partnership 
PO Box 445  
Oak Island, NC 28465 
GPINs: 9815147486; 9815125977 
 
A. Campbell Holdings, LLC 
5801 Skylab Road 
Huntington Beach, CA 92647 
GPIN: 9815242044 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION 

Request to rezone a +/- 3.78-acre unaddressed property with frontages on Lake 
Latham Road and West Holt Street (GPIN: 9815147486), portions of a +/- 27.473-acre 
property addressed 1268 West Holt Street (GPIN: 9815242044), and portions of a +/- 
6.815-acre unaddressed property with frontages on Sun Ray Lane and Lake Latham 
Road (GPIN: 9815125977) from Heavy Manufacturing and Light Manufacturing to 
Heavy Manufacturing, Conditional District to allow for a railyard on a +/- 8.03-acre 
site by Samet Corporation. 

AREA ZONING & DISTRICTS 

The properties to the north, across US 70, are in Alamance County’s planning 
jurisdiction and are not zoned. The properties to the east are zoned HM, Heavy 
Manufacturing. The properties to the west are zoned R-20, Residential District and B-
3, Neighborhood Business District. The properties to the south are zoned R-20 and 
LM, Light Manufacturing District. 

SITE HISTORY 
The subject properties were included in a master site plan for the North Carolina 
Industrial Center (NCIC) completed in the early 2000s. The largest property is 
currently vacant and adjacent to a rail spur serving the Cambro facility.  

STAFF ANALYSIS 
CITY LIMITS? YES   NO  
PROPOSED USE BY-RIGHT? YES   NO  
SPECIAL USE? YES   NO 
EXISTING UTILITIES?  YES   NO 

POTENTIAL IMPACT OF 
PROPOSED ZONE 

Most of the property is already zoned HM, Heavy Manufacturing District. The 
proposed rezoning largely impacts the southern portion of the site. As shown on the 
site-specific plan, a rail spur already exists in the area to serve the Cambro facility. 



 

PAGE 3 

 
 
 
 

  
 



 

PAGE 4 

 
LAND USE REPORT 

EXISTING LAND USE Vacant, Rail Spur 

PROPOSED LAND USE & 
REQUESTED ACTION 

The applicant is requesting to rezone a +/- 3.78-acre unaddressed property 
with frontages on Lake Latham Road and West Holt Street (GPIN: 
9815147486), portions of a +/- 27.473-acre property addressed 1268 West 
Holt Street (GPIN: 9815242044), and portions of a +/- 6.815-acre 
unaddressed property with frontages on Sun Ray Lane and Lake Latham 
Road (GPIN: 9815125977) from Heavy Manufacturing and Light 
Manufacturing to Heavy Manufacturing, Conditional District to allow for a 
railyard on a +/- 8.03-acre site. 

PROPOSED ZONING HM (CD) (Heavy Manufacturing District) 
PARCEL SIZE +/- 8.03 acres 

AREA LAND USE 
The subject property is located within the North Carolina Industrial Center 
(NCIC) and adjacent to the existing Cambro facility. Residential uses are 
adjacent to the site and along Lake Latham Road. 

ONSITE AMENITIES & DEDICATIONS 
N/A 
 

CONDITIONAL ZONE? YES   NO 

DESCRIPTION OF PROPOSED 
CONDITIONS 
 

The applicant has committed to annexation of the site. The subject 
properties are part of the master plan for the North Carolina Industrial 
Center (NCIC) developed in the early 2000s. Restrictive covenants were 
established for this industrial park and include specific standards for 
building setbacks, building height and landscaping requirements. 
 
The following dimensional standards are requested: 

− Front: 100’  
− Side: 30’ 
− Rear: 20’ 
− Maximum Building Height: 50’ 

 
At minimum 10’ landscape buffers are shown on the site plan, with wider 
buffer areas shown on parts of the site. 

  

CONSISTENCY WITH MEBANE BY DESIGN STRATEGY 
LAND USE GROWTH STRATEGY 
DESIGNATION(S) 

G-1 Mixed Use (NC 119 Bypass and US 70) 
 

OTHER LAND USE CONSIDERATIONS  

MEBANE BY DESIGN GOALS & 
OBJECTIVES SUPPORTED 

 

MEBANE BY DESIGN GOALS & 
OBJECTIVES NOT SUPPORTED 

 



 

PAGE 5 



 

PAGE 6 

UTILITIES REPORT 
AVAILABLE UTILITIES YES   NO 
PROPOSED UTILITY NEEDS No water and sewer services are currently proposed. 
UTILITIES PROVIDED BY APPLICANT N/A 
MUNICIPAL CAPACITY TO ABSORB 
PROJECT  

N/A 

CONSISTENCY WITH MEBANE LONG 
RANGE UTILITY PLAN? 

YES   NO  N/A 

ADEQUATE STORMWATER 
CONTROL? 

YES   NO  
Stormwater treatment shall be in accordance with City requirements. 

INNOVATIVE STORMWATER 
MANAGEMENT? 

YES   NO 

TRANSPORTATION NETWORK STATUS 

CURRENT CONDITIONS 

The site includes one driveway connection to Lake Latham Road, 
which is a two-lane facility maintained by the NCDOT. Traffic 
counts are not available for Lake Latham Road. In 2019, the 
annual average daily traffic count for West Holt Street in this 
area was 1,500. Crash data is not reported by the NCDOT for 
this area. 

TRAFFIC IMPACT ANALYSIS 
REQUIRED? 

YES   NO 

DESCRIPTION OF RECOMMENDED 
IMPROVEMENTS 

No improvements are required. To date, discussions have 
occurred with the NCDOT related to providing a direct trucking 
route to NC 119 through the extension of Development Center 
Drive to Lake Latham Road, pending right-of-way acquisition and 
NCDOT funding. 

CONSISTENCY WITH THE MEBANE 
BICYCLE AND PEDESTRIAN 
TRANSPORTATION PLAN? 

 
YES   NO  
The current plan shows a multi-use path in this area. However, the City 
is updating this plan and preliminary routes show a sidewalk ending at 
Cambro. 

MULTIMODAL IMPROVEMENTS 
PROVIDED BY APPLICANT? 

YES   NO  

DESCRIPTION OF MULTIMODAL 
IMPROVEMENTS 

N/A 

 
  



 

PAGE 7 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
STAFF ZONING 
RECOMMENDATION  

 APPROVE    DISAPPROVE 

STAFF SPECIAL USE FINDING 
 CONSISTENT    NOT CONSISTENT………………..WITH MEBANE 
BY DESIGN 

RATIONALE 

 
The proposed development “NCIC Rail Transload” is consistent 
with the guidance provided within Mebane By Design, the 
Mebane Comprehensive Land Development Plan.  

 



 
 
 

Technical Memo 

Date: 10-03-23 

From: Franz Holt, City Engineer 

To: Ashley Ownbey, Development Director 

Subject: NCIC Rail Transload Site  

 
The Engineering Department has completed its review of a proposed NCIC Rail Transload Site 

located on a currently vacant 3.78-acre parcel along Lake Latham Road (SR 1976) and being 

combined with other NCIC property totaling 8.03 acres all being developed by Samet Corporation.  

Our technical review comments are as follows: 

 

A. The site plans completed by Triad Design Group include rail improvements connecting to the 

existing rail spur at Cambro Manufacturing and a paved receiving and loading yard area.  

 

B. The site is to be landscaped along Lake Latham Road frontage, Sun Ray Lane frontage, and 

along the western adjoining property. 

 

C. A stormwater permit will be required for the site development with treatment in accordance 

with City of Mebane requirements. Built upon area exceeds the threshold for low density 

option requirement stormwater control measures treating the runoff from a 1-inch rain and 

providing detention for a 10-year storm design post vs. pre. 

 

D. One driveway connection is proposed at Lake Latham Road requiring a driveway permit from 

NCDOT.  No TIA was required. 

 

E. The site is proposed to be annexed and rezoned to Heavy Manufacturing Conditional Use. 

 

F. No water and sewer services are proposed.  However, the site will be annexed. 

 

G. To date discussions have occurred with NCDOT related to providing a direct trucking route to 

NC Hwy. 119 through the extension of Development Center Drive to Lake Latham Road 

pending right-of-way acquisition and NCDOT funding. 

 

 

 

 

CITY OF MEBANE 106 East Washington Street | Mebane, NC 27302   (919) 563 5901       fholt@cityofmebane.com 

  W W W . C I T Y O F M E B A N E . C O M  

mailto:fholt@cityofmebane.com
http://www.cityofmebane.com/


 

AGENDA ITEM #6 
Updates to the Mebane 
Planning Board Bylaws and 
Rules of Procedure 

Meeting Date 
October 9, 2023 

Presenter  
Ashley Ownbey, Development Director 
 

Public Hearing 
Yes  No  

Summary 
Planning staff are beginning the process of reviewing and proposing updates to the Bylaws and Rules of 
Procedure of the City of Mebane Planning Board, which was adopted in 1999. The document is outdated 
and requires updates. This review provides the Mebane Planning Board the opportunity to evaluate current 
rules of procedure and assess if additional changes are needed. 

Background 
Section 2-2-D of the Mebane Unified Development Ordinances states the following: 

“The Planning Board shall establish a regular meeting schedule and shall meet frequently enough 
so that it can take action in conformity with the review procedures delineated in this Ordinance 
and in accordance with the adopted Bylaws and Rules of Procedure of the City of Mebane Planning 
Board.” 

City staff asked the Mebane Planning Board to review the document and offer comments by September 
29, 2023 for discussion at the October 9, 2023 Planning Board meeting. Submitted comments are attached. 

Financial Impact 
N/A 

Recommendation 
This item is presented for discussion. Recommendations for continued work by staff may be necessary. A 
final document will be presented for approval at a following meeting. 

Attachments 
1. Bylaws and Rules of Procedure of the City of Mebane Planning Board, with markup 
2. Recommended Changes by Planning Board Member Colin Cannell 

 



Bylaws and Rules of Procedure 
Of the 

Planning Board 
Of the 

City of Mebane, North Carolina 
 
 

 

OBJECTIVES AND PURPOSE 
 

The objectives and purposes of the Mebane Planning Board shall be set forth in 
North Carolina General Statutes Chapter 160A, Sections 360, 361, 362, and 363, Chapter 
160D-301,307,308,309, and 310 as amended, in those acts of the legislature which comprise 
the corporate charter of the City of Mebane with powers and duties as may be from time 
to time delegated to said board by resolution or ordinance by the City Council of the 
City of Mebane within the limitations of the above statutes. 

The Mebane Planning Board is hereinafter referred to as "the board". 
 
 

ARTICLE I- ELECTION OF OFFICERS 
 

Section 1. Election of Chair and Vice-Chair 
Officers shall be elected at the July meeting (beginning of the fiscal year). The procedure for 
electing officers shall be as set out below. The Chair shall be elected before the Vice-Chair, and 
the newly elected Chair shall preside over the election of the Vice-Chair. 

 
Section 2. Election process 
The election of the Chair shall be the first order of business at the organizational 
meeting. The Secretary shall assume the Chair position for the purpose of administering 
the election of the Chair. The floor shall be open to nominations for the Chair by Board 
members and nominees must be present to be nominated. A motion to close the floor for 
nominations must be made and seconded. Any nominee who wishes to decline the 
nomination must do so after the second and before the Board acts on the motion. The 
candidate for each office receiving a majority vote of the entire membership of the 
Planning Board shall be declared elected. 

 
Section 3. Appointment of Board Members 
All officers shall be elected for a term of one (1) year by the City Council and all officers 
shall be eligible to succeed themselves. 

 
Section 4. Resignation of Members/Officers 
Vacancies in office shall be filled immediately for the unexpired term by election through the 
City Council. Should the Chair resign the office mid-term, then the Vice-Chair shall assume the 
Chair position for the remainder of the term. The Board shall hold a “special election” at the 
next regular Board meeting for election to fill the remainder of the Vice-Chairs’s term. 

Formatted: Font color: Red, Strikethrough

Formatted: Font color: Red

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 11 pt,
Font color: Red

Formatted: Font color: Red

Commented [AO1]: Comment from Susan Semonite: 
Section 3 of the Hillsborough is nicely defined. Also, our 
board is appointed, should that term be better defined? 
Article 1 - note the election of officers for the board, but this 
is after members have been appointed to the board. Should 
Article XI - Terms of office be moved up  or within Article I 
or II 

Commented [AO2R1]: Staff Response: Suggested 
language is added based on reference to Hillsborough's 
language. 



 
 

ARTICLE II- OFFICERS AND THEIR DUTIES 
 

Section 1. Officers 
The officers of the Planning Board shall consist of a chairman, vice chairman, and a secretary. 

 
Section 2. Chairman 
The Chair shall be elected by the full membership of the Planning Board and have a one 
year term. The Chairman shall preside at all meetings of the Planning Board.; he/she 
shall decide all points of order or procedure. The Chairman shall possess and execute all 
duties conferred by parliamentary usage upon such officers.and shall have the following 
powers: 

 
1) To rule  motions in or out of order, including the right to rule out of order any motions 

patently offered for obstructive or dilatory purposes; 
2) To determine whether a speaker has gone beyond reasonable standards of courtesy in    

his/her remarks and to entertain and rule on objections from other members on this 
ground; 

3)   To  entertain and answer questions of parliamentary law or procedure; 
4)   To call a brief recess at any time; 
5)  To adjourn in an emergency.

Formatted: Font color: Red, Strikethrough

Formatted: Font color: Red, Strikethrough

Formatted: Font color: Red, Strikethrough

Formatted: Font color: Red

Formatted: Font color: Red, Strikethrough

Formatted: Font color: Red, Strikethrough

Commented [AO3]: Comment provided by UNC SOG 
staff with October 2022 training: "...doesn’t really give the 
Chairman any guidance in how to actually run the meetings. 
In the best of all possible worlds, the adopted rules of 
procedure would enumerate more details about the flow of 
the meeting, whether to proceed by motion or use 
“discussion and possible action”, the recognizing of all 
members for comments, the process for hearing from the 
public, etc. " 

Commented [AO4R3]: Additional comment by UNC 
SOG staff: "It could also be useful to have a rule about 
Public Comments. At a minimum, a rule of conduct would 
be helpful (e.g., only the person at the podium is allowed to 
speak during Public Comments)." 

Formatted: Not Strikethrough

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style:
1, 2, 3, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at: 
1" + Indent at:  1.25"

Formatted: Body Text, Indent: Left:  1", Hanging:  0.25",
Right:  0.4"



Section 3. Vice Chairman 
The Vice-chairman shall assume the duties of the chairman in his/her absence. 

 
Section 4. Secretary 
A staff member of the City's Planning Department shall hold the office of secretary. 

 
 

ARTICLE III - MEETINGS 
 

Section 1. Regular meetings 
Regular meetings of the Planning Board shall be held on the second Monday of each 
month at City Hall, provided, that if the Chairman so directs, meetings may be held any 
other place in the city the meeting date may be moved due to Holidays or by the 
Chairman. the meeting date may be moved due to Holidays or by the Chairman. . 
Absence from two (2) consecutive meetings or three (3) meetings within the space of a 
year may be deemed to be sufficient cause to ask for that member's resignation. 

 
   Section 2. Notice of meeting 

The secretary shall keep the minutes of the Planning Board meetings in the proper form 
for approval of the board at the next regular meeting. The secretary shall send out mail 
notices of regular meetings in accordance with North Carolina General Statutes 160D-601, 
and shall give telephone notice of the special meetings called by the Chairman, and carry 
on routine correspondence and maintain the files of the board. 

 
Section 3. Special meeting 
Special meetings of the Planning Board may be called at any time by the chairman, in 
accordance with General Statutes. 

 
Section 4. Quorum 
A quorum shall consist of a majority of the board's eligible membership. 

 
Section 5. Conduct of meetings 
All meetings shall be open to the public. The order of business shall be as follows: a) roll 
call; b) reading of the minutes of the previous meeting; c) reports of committees ; d) 
unfinished business; e) new business.;  
1) Call to order and establish a quorum  

- The Chair/Vice-Chair shall open the public meeting and take roll call to 
determine a quorum. 

2) Approval of minutes from the previous meeting(s) 
- The Chair/Vice-Chair shall ask the Board for discussion and changes. If no 

discussion or changes are needed, then the Chair/Vice-Chair shall ask for a 
motion, a second, and a Board vote. 

3) City Council updates 
- The Board Secretary shall provide updates on action items previously reviewed 

by the Board that moved to City Council. 

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0"

Formatted: Font color: Red, Strikethrough

Formatted: Not Strikethrough

Formatted: Font color: Red

Formatted: Font color: Red

Formatted: Font color: Red, Strikethrough

Formatted: Font color: Red

Formatted: Font color: Red, Strikethrough

Formatted: Strikethrough

Formatted: Font color: Auto, Character scale: 100%

Formatted: Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  1.15" +
Indent at:  1.4"

Formatted: Font color: Auto, Character scale: 100%

Formatted: Font color: Auto, Character scale: 100%

Formatted: Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  1.15" +
Indent at:  1.4"

Formatted: Font color: Auto, Character scale: 100%

Formatted: Font color: Auto, Character scale: 100%

Formatted: Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  1.15" +
Indent at:  1.4"

Formatted: Font color: Auto, Character scale: 100%



4) Action Items 
- a)The staff report is presented by Staff to the Board for an overview of the action 

item; 
- b)The Applicant will present their item to the Board with more detail; 
- c)The Board can either ask Staff or the Applicant to provide more detail or 

clarification at this time; 
- d)The Chair will then open the floor for public comment; 
- e)The Chair will close the floor for public comment after everyone has spoken; 
- f)The Applicant may address public comments and further questions from the 

Board; 
- g)The Chair will ask for Board discussion: 
- h)The Chair will ask for a motion and second. Any further discussion by the 

Board will be conducted at this time. 
- i)Action would be taken on the motion presented on the floor or a motion may be 

amended by the member who made the original motion with a second before action is 
taken. 

5) New Business 
- The Secretary shall present any new business to discuss with the Board that may 

require action at the next meeting or just be updates from the City. 
6) Adjournment 

 The Chair may adjourn after all business and discussion has been completed, or in 
the event of an emergency. 

 
Section 6. Voting 
Voting must be done only after a motion and second has been made. The vote of a 
majority of those eligible voting members the members present shall be sufficient to 
decide matters before the Planning Board, provided a quorum is present. All votes by the 
Planning Board are recommendations and the Chair will then provide the date the item 
would be heard by City Council. 

 
    Section 7. Cancellation of meetings 

Whenever there is no business for the Planning Board, the Chairman Secretary may dispense 
with a regular meeting by giving notice in accordance with North Carolina General Statutes 
160D-601. 

Formatted: Font color: Auto, Character scale: 100%

Formatted: Font color: Auto, Character scale: 100%

Formatted: Font color: Auto, Character scale: 100%

Formatted: Font color: Auto, Character scale: 100%

Formatted: Font color: Auto, Character scale: 100%

Formatted: Font color: Auto, Character scale: 100%

Formatted: Font color: Auto, Character scale: 100%

Formatted: Font color: Auto, Character scale: 100%

Formatted: Font color: Auto, Character scale: 100%

Formatted: Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  1.15" +
Indent at:  1.4"

Formatted: Font color: Auto, Character scale: 100%

Formatted: Font color: Auto, Character scale: 100%

Formatted: Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  1.15" +
Indent at:  1.4"

Formatted: Font color: Auto, Character scale: 100%

Formatted: Font color: Auto, Character scale: 100%

Formatted: Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  1.15" +
Indent at:  1.4"

Formatted: Font color: Red, Strikethrough

Formatted: Font color: Red

Formatted: Font color: Red, Strikethrough

Formatted: Font color: Red

Formatted: Font color: Red

Formatted: Font color: Red



ARTICLE IV – AGENDA PREPARATION 
 

Section 1. Agenda for regular meeting 
The Secretary shall prepare the agenda, with the assistance of the chairman and the 
advice of the administrative officers of any unit of government concerned. 

 
Section 2. Circulation of the Agenda 
An official copy of the Agenda shall be prepared not less than seven (7) days in advance 
of the regular meeting date and shall be circulated to every member of the Planning 
Board and members of the City Council uploaded to the City website so that it will be 
received not less than five (5) days prior to the regular meeting date. 

 
Section 3. Publication of the Agenda 
A copy of the official agenda shall be made available to the local press in accordance 
with North Carolina General Statutes 160D-601. 

 
Section 4. Content of the Agenda 
The agenda shall be made up of the following items: 

a)  Items for which the City Council has specifically requested the Planning 
Board study and/or action. 

b)  Any item on which any member of the Planning Board has requested 
consideration. 

c)  Any item which any person has requested in writing that the Planning 
Board consider. 

d)  Items specifically held over from previous meetings of the Planning 
Board. 

 
Section 5. Agenda for Special meeting 
The Agenda for a special meetings of the Planning Board shall be prepared and circulated 
to the membership of the City Council, the Planning Board, and to the local press in 
accordance with General Statute. 

 
Section 6. 
Only the following types of items will be considered at a special meeting: 

a) The specific items contained on the special meeting agenda, which has 
been circulated to the membership of the Planning Board. 

b) Items on which the City Council specifically requests immediate action. 
c) Items for discussion only and on which no official action is proposed to be 

taken. 
d)  Items approved by unanimous vote of all members of the Planning Board 

present, which so affect the public health, safety and general welfare that 
they require immediate action. 

Formatted: Font color: Red, Strikethrough

Formatted: Font color: Red

Formatted: Font color: Red, Strikethrough

Formatted: Font color: Red

Formatted: Font color: Red

Formatted: Font color: Red



 

 

ARTICLE V - GENERAL POWERS AND DUTIES 
 

Section 1. 
The Planning Board shall have those powers, as determined by the City Council, 
enumerated in the Zoning Ordinance. 

 
 

ARTICLE VI- COMMITTEES 
 

Section 1. 
The chairman from time to time, for purposes and terms, which the Planning Board 
approves, may appoint standing committees and adhoc committees. 

 
 

ARTICLE VII - EMPLOYEES 
 

Section 1. 
The City Council may appoint such employees and staff as it deems necessary to work 
with the board. 

 
 

 ARTICLE VIII - EXPENDITURES 
 

Section 1. 
The expenditures of the Board, exclusive of gifts, shall be within the amounts 
appropriated by the city. 

 
 

ARTICLE IX - RECORDS 
 

Section 1. 
The city shall maintain a file on all studies, plans, reports and recommendations made by 
the Planning Board in the discharge of its duties and responsibilities. 
All records of the Planning Board shall be public record. 

 
 

ARTICLE X - COMPOSITION 
 

Section 1. 
The Planning Board shall consist of twelve (12 9) members, eight (8 6) of whom shall be 
residents of the City of Mebane and appointed by the City Council, and four (4) members 
(three two (3 2) from Alamance County and one (1) from Orange County) to be 
residents of that area which is within one (1) mile outside of of in the corporate limits of 
the city and shall  
 be appointed by their respective County Commissioners. 

Formatted: Font color: Red, Strikethrough

Formatted: Not Strikethrough

Formatted: Font color: Red, Strikethrough

Formatted: Not Strikethrough

Formatted: Font color: Red, Strikethrough

Formatted: Font color: Red

Formatted: Not Strikethrough

Formatted: Font color: Red, Strikethrough

Formatted: Not Strikethrough

Formatted: Font color: Red, Strikethrough

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.9", First line:  0.01", Right: 
0.3", Space Before:  0.1 pt, Line spacing:  Multiple 1.06
li, Tab stops: Not at  0.9"



 

ARTICLE XI - TERMS OF OFFICE 
 

Section 1. 
Each member shall be appointed for a term of four (4) years. Members shall serve no 
more than two (2) consecutive terms, unless there are no other applicants, in which case 
the City Council may continue to reappoint a member. Vacancies occurring otherwise 
shall be for the unexpired term and shall be made by the City Council. 

 

ARTICLE XII - AMENDMENTS 

Section 1. 
These bylaws may be amended by a majority vote of the City Council. 

 

 
This document shall become effective on the 1st day of March, 1999. 

 
 
 

ATTESTED: 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Date 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Commented [AO5]: Comment from Susan Semonite: 
Should Article XI - Terms of office be moved up  or with in 
Article I or II 



[Document tle] 
 

Page 1 of 7 
 

 
 
 

City of Mebane 
Planning Board Bylaws 
and Rules of Procedure 
 
Adopted ___________, 2023 
 
Adapted from “Suggested Rules of Procedure 
for Small Local Government Boards, Second 
Edi on,” by A. Fleming Bell II, Ins tute of 
Government, UNC-CH 
 
 

ARTICLE I. INTRODUCTION 2 
SECTION 1.01 GENERAL PRINCIPLES 2 
ARTICLE II. OFFICERS 2 
SECTION 2.01 ELECTION OF OFFICERS 2 
SECTION 2.02 TERMS 2 
SECTION 2.03 SECRETARY 2 
ARTICLE III. MEETINGS 3 
SECTION 3.01 REGULAR MEETINGS 3 
SECTION 3.02 AGENDAS 3 
SECTION 3.03 SPECIAL MEETINGS 3 
ARTICLE IV. CONDUCT OF MEETINGS 4 
SECTION 4.01 PRESIDING OFFICER 4 
SECTION 4.02 ORDER OF BUSINESS 4 
SECTION 4.03 SUBSTANTIVE MOTIONS 5 
SECTION 4.04 DEBATE 5 
SECTION 4.05 PROCEDURAL MOTIONS 5 
ARTICLE V. OPEN MEETINGS 7 

 
  



[Document tle] 
 

Page 2 of 7 
 

Ar cle I. Introduc on 
Except for city councils and boards of county commissioners, the N.C. laws that establish or authorize 
small governing boards provide li le guidance as to procedures. Rules adopted by the Planning Board 
must be consistent with the provisions of NCGS Chapter 143, Ar cle 33C, and Chapter 160D, Ar cle 3, 
but so long as that is done, and the board adheres to certain general principles, it has a free hand in 
designing its own rules of procedure. Whatever the rules adopted, the board should follow them 
consistently. Amendments to the rules should be listed in an appendix as they are adopted.  
  
The following rules and procedures are hereby adopted by the City of Mebane Planning Board to 
facilitate open, effec ve, equitable, and orderly communica on during official mee ngs of the board.  
 
The City of Mebane Unified Development Ordinance Ar cle 2-2, as amended, is incorporated into these 
rules and procedures and shall govern in the event of a conflict. 
 
Sec on 1.01 General Principles 
The following principles guide the rules set forth by the Planning Board:  
1. The board must act as a body.  
2. The board must act by at least a majority.  
3. The board’s rules of procedure must be followed consistently.  
4. The board should proceed in the most efficient manner possible.  
5. The board’s ac ons should result from a decision on the merits, not manipula on of the rules.  
6. Every member must have an equal opportunity to par cipate in decision making. 
 
Ar cle II. Officers 
Sec on 2.01 Elec on of Officers 
The board shall nominate and elect a chair and vice-chair as the first order of business of the first 
regular mee ng of each fiscal year, as defined by the City. Any newly appointed members shall be 
sworn in and seated before a mo on to nominate may be considered; this mo on requires a quorum. 
 
Sec on 2.02 Terms 
The chair and vice-chair shall serve for one-year terms, which may be successive. If an office is vacated, 
the board shall, at the next regular mee ng, nominate and elect a member to that office for the 
remainder of the current term. 
 
Sec on 2.03 Secretary 
The office of Secretary shall be assigned to a member of the City’s Planning Department by the 
Planning Director, who may assign it to themselves and may reassign it at any me. The Secretary shall 
keep full and accurate minutes of all board proceedings, including the exact wording of each mo on 
and the results of each vote. 
 



[Document tle] 
 

Page 3 of 7 
 

Ar cle III. Mee ngs 
Sec on 3.01 Regular Mee ngs 
The board shall hold regular mee ngs at 6:30pm on the second Monday of each month in the Glendel 
Stephenson Municipal Building. If a regular mee ng falls on a legal holiday, or on a day when the 
number of members able to a end will not cons tute a quorum, then the board may vote to postpone 
that mee ng by up to ten days; this postponement shall be recorded on the board’s public mee ng 
schedule as described in Ar cle V. 
 
Sec on 3.02 Agendas 
The Secretary shall prepare an agenda for each regular mee ng, as well as a packet that includes, for 
each item of business placed on the agenda, necessary background informa on on the subject. The 
Secretary shall order items on the agenda according to the order of business. The order of business for 
each regular mee ng shall be as follows:  

1. Call to order and establish a quorum 
2. Approval of minutes from previous mee ng(s) 
3. Unfinished business from previous mee ng(s) 
4. New business 
5. Announcements 
6. Adjournment 

 
The Secretary shall circulate the agenda to every member of the board at least seven days before the 
date of the mee ng and, promptly therea er, publish the agenda on the City’s website. The Secretary 
shall circulate the agenda packet to every member of the board at least five days before the date of the 
mee ng and, promptly therea er, publish the packet on the City’s website. 
 
If, as of the deadline for circula ng the agenda for a regular mee ng, there are no agenda items for 
unfinished or new business, the Secretary may declare that mee ng cancelled by giving no ce in 
accordance with North Carolina General Statutes 160D-601. 
 
Sec on 3.03 Special Mee ngs  
A special mee ng of the board may be called: 

a. By vote of the board in open session, during another mee ng, on a mo on that specifies the 
special mee ng’s me, place, and purpose; 

b. By a majority of the members at any me; or 
c. By the chair. 

 
The board shall cause wri en no ce of the me, place, and purpose of any special mee ng to be 
delivered, at least 48 hours before that mee ng, to each board member and to any en ty that has filed 
a wri en request for no ce with the Town Clerk. 
  
The board may not consider any item of business at a special mee ng that is not specified in the no ce 
for that mee ng unless (1) all members are present and (2) a majority of members determine in good 
faith at the mee ng that it is essen al to discuss or act on the item immediately. 



[Document tle] 
 

Page 4 of 7 
 

 
Ar cle IV. Conduct of Mee ngs 
Sec on 4.01 Presiding Officer 
The presiding officer at each mee ng shall be the chair. If the chair is absent, the vice-chair shall 
preside. If both the chair and the vice-chair are absent, another member designated by vote of the 
board members present shall preside. Any member who is presiding retains all rights of board 
membership, including the right to make mo ons and the right to vote. 
 
The presiding officer shall have the following powers:  

1. To recognize any person wishing to address the board, including other members; 
2. To rule mo ons in or out of order, including any mo on offered for obstruc ve or 
dilatory purposes;  
3. To determine whether a speaker has exceeded the permi ed amount of me or 
standards of courtesy in his remarks, and to entertain and rule on objec ons from other 
members on these grounds;  
4. To entertain and answer ques ons of procedure; 
5. To call a brief recess; and 
6. To adjourn in an emergency.  

  
A decision by the presiding officer under any of the first four powers listed may be appealed to the full 
board upon mo on of any member. Such a mo on is only in order immediately a er that decision is 
announced. The member making the mo on need not be recognized by the presiding officer, and the 
mo on, if mely made, may not be ruled out of order. 
 
Sec on 4.02 Order of Business  
The board may, as its first order of business of each mee ng a er establishing the presence of a 
quorum, vote to add items to or subtract items from the agenda. 
 
The board shall consider new business as follows: 
 

(a) Staff Report 
A representa ve of the City’s Planning Department presents the staff report for the proposed 
applica on; the staff report is entered into the record. 
 

(b) Applicant's Presenta on 
The applicant presents any addi onal informa on to clarify the applica on. 
 

(c) Comments from the Public 
The presiding officer shall limit the subject of comments to the item being considered and shall require 
those addressing the board to state their full name and address (business address if speaking on behalf 
of a business). Only one person may speak at a me and that person must speak from a designated 
spot, such as a podium. The presiding officer may set a me limit for each comment. 
 



[Document tle] 
 

Page 5 of 7 
 

(d) Planning Board's Discussion 
Board members shall address the presiding officer unless engaged in debate with each other or 
ques oning a speaker. Upon hearing no further discussion, the presiding officer may entertain a mo on 
for ac on on the applica on or ques on at hand. 
 

(e) Planning Board’s Ac on 
The board shall act only by mo on. A mo on shall be deemed adopted when it is affirmed by a 
majority, meaning more than half, of votes cast, a quorum being present, unless otherwise required by 
these rules or the laws of North Carolina. 
 
Sec on 4.03 Substan ve Mo ons 

a) Any member, including the presiding officer, may make a mo on or second a mo on. 
b) No speaker may address the board while a mo on is on the floor. 
c) A member may make only one mo on at a me. 
d) A substan ve mo on is out of order while another substan ve mo on is pending. 
e) A mo on may be withdrawn at any me before it is amended or before the presiding officer 

puts the mo on to vote, whichever occurs first. 
f) A mo on that does not get a second or does not receive enough affirma ve votes to be 

adopted will be deemed to have failed and may not be moved again during that mee ng. 
g) Once a substan ve mo on has been stated and seconded, the presiding officer shall open the 

floor to debate. 
 
Sec on 4.04 Debate 
The presiding officer shall preside over debates unless they become ac vely engaged in debate on a 
par cular ma er, in which case they may designate another board member to preside over the debate. 
The officer shall resume presiding as soon as ac on on the ma er is concluded. In a debate on a 
mo on: 

a) The maker of the mo on is en tled to speak first; 
b) A member who has not spoken on the issue shall be recognized before someone who has 

already spoken; and 
c) To the extent possible, the debate shall alternate between proponents and opponents of the 

measure. 
 
Sec on 4.05 Procedural Mo ons 
In addi on to substan ve mo ons, the following procedural mo ons, and no others, are in order. 
Unless otherwise noted, each mo on is debatable, may be amended, and requires a majority of the 
votes cast, a quorum being present, for adop on. Procedural mo ons are in order while a substan ve 
mo on is pending and at other mes, except as otherwise noted.  
  
In order of priority (if applicable), the procedural mo ons are: 
 



[Document tle] 
 

Page 6 of 7 
 

(a) To appeal a procedural ruling of the presiding officer 
A decision of the presiding officer ruling a mo on in or out of order, determining whether a speaker has 
gone beyond reasonable standards of courtesy in his remarks, or entertaining and answering a ques on 
of parliamentary law or procedure, may be appealed to the board pursuant to Sec on 4.01. 
  

(b) To adjourn 
This mo on may be made only at the conclusion of ac on on a pending substan ve ma er; it may not 
interrupt delibera on of a pending ma er. A mo on to adjourn to a me and place certain shall also 
comply with the requirements of Rule 2, Special Mee ngs.  
  

(c) To take brief recess 
This mo on allows the board to pause briefly in its proceedings.  
  

(d) Call to follow the agenda 
The mo on must be made at the first reasonable opportunity, or it is waived.  
  

(e) To Suspend the Rules 
The board may not suspend provisions of the rules that are imposed by law on the board. For adop on, 
the mo on requires a vote equal to the number required for a quorum.  
  

(f) To Divide a Complex Mo on and Consider it by Paragraph 
This mo on is in order whenever a member wishes to consider and vote on sub-parts of a complex 
mo on separately.  
  

(g) To Close Debate 
This mo on is not in order un l every member has had an opportunity to speak at least once.  
 

(h) To Defer Considera on 
The board may defer a substan ve mo on for later considera on at an unspecified me. A substan ve 
mo on the considera on of which has been deferred expires 60 days therea er unless a mo on to 
revive considera on is adopted. If considera on of a mo on has been deferred, a new mo on with the 
same effect cannot be introduced while the deferred mo on remains pending (has not expired). A 
person who wishes to revisit the ma er during that me must take ac on to revive considera on of the 
original mo on, or else move to suspend the rules.  
  

(i) To Postpone to a Certain Time or Day 
This mo on allows the board to defer considera on to a specified me or day and is appropriate when 
more informa on is needed, or the delibera ons are likely to be lengthy. If considera on of a mo on 
has been postponed, a new mo on with the same effect cannot be introduced while the postponed 
mo on remains pending. A person who wishes to revisit the ma er must either wait un l the specified 

me or move to suspend the rules.  
 



[Document tle] 
 

Page 7 of 7 
 

(j) To Amend 
An amendment to a mo on must be per nent to the subject ma er of the mo on. An amendment is 
improper if adop on of the mo on with that amendment added would have the same effect as a 
rejec on of the original mo on. A proposal to subs tute completely different working for a mo on or 
an amendment shall be treated as a mo on to amend. A mo on may be amended, and that 
amendment may be amended, but no further amendments may be made un l the last offered 
amendment is disposed of by a vote.  
  

(k) To Revive Considera on 
The board may vote to revive considera on of any substan ve mo on earlier deferred by adop on of a 
previous mo on. 
  

(l) To Reconsider 
The board may vote to reconsider its ac on on a ma er. The mo on to do so must be made by a 
member who voted with the prevailing side and only at the same mee ng as the vote was taken, 
including any con nua on of that mee ng through adjournment to a me and place certain. The 
mo on cannot interrupt delibera on on a pending ma er but is in order at any me before final 
adjournment of the mee ng. 
 
Ar cle V. Open Mee ngs 
Subject to the open mee ng requirements of NCGS Chapter 143, Ar cle 33C, the board shall cause the 
following documents to be maintained on file with the City of Mebane Town Clerk’s office and on the 
City’s website as a ma er of public record: 

a. These rules of procedure, as required by NCGS 160D-308; 
b. The board’s current mee ng schedule; and 
c. Minutes of all board mee ngs for the prior three years. 

 
The board shall cause any revisions to the above documents to be filed appropriately at least seven 
days before the first mee ng held pursuant to those revisions. 
 
The board shall not act on any ma er by reference to a le er, number, or other designa on, or other 
secret device or method, with the intent to make it impossible for members of the public to understand 
what is being acted on. The board may act by reference to numbered items on an agenda prepared 
pursuant to Sec on 3.02 and available at the mee ng for public inspec on. 


	1. October 2023 Planning Board Agenda
	2. September 2023 PB Minutes
	3. SUP for Concrete Plant
	0. Summary Sheet -Concrete Plant - Special Use Permit
	Presenter
	Applicant
	Public Hearing
	Property
	Site Plan
	Current Zoning
	Size
	Surrounding Zoning
	Utilities
	Floodplain
	Watershed
	City Limits
	Application Brief
	See Planning Project Report for more details.
	Summary
	Financial Impact
	Suggested Motion
	Attachments

	1. Preliminary Slides
	Request for a Special Use Permit to allow for a Concrete Plant on the �+/- 5.28-acre parcel located on 920 Mattress Factory Road �(GPIN:9824778854) by VM Development, LLC.��
	Concrete Plant�Special Use Request
	Concrete Plant�Special Use Request
	Slide Number 9
	Concrete Plant�Special Use Request
	Concrete Plant�Special Use Request
	Slide Number 12
	Mebane Concrete Plan
	Will not materially endanger the public health or safety
	Will not materially endanger the public health or safety
	Will not substantially injure the value of adjoining or abutting property
	Will be in harmony with the area in which it is to be located
	Will be in general conformity with the land use plan or other plans and policies officially adopted by the City Council

	2. Mebane Zoning Special Use Permit - 920 Mattress Factory Road
	3. Site Plan
	CONCRETE PLANT 7-17-23 EXISTING SITE PLAN (1)
	CONCRETE PLANT 7-17-23 DEMO PLAN (1)
	CONCRETE PLANT 7-17-23 SITE PLAN (1)
	CONCRETE PLANT 7-17-23 SITE DETAILS (1)
	CONCRETE PLANT 7-17-23 GRADING PLAN (1)
	CONCRETE PLANT 7-17-23 EROSION DETAILS (1)
	CONCRETE PLANT 7-17-23 UTILITY PLAN (1)
	CONCRETE PLANT 7-17-23 UTILITY DETAILS (1)
	CONCRETE PLANT 7-17-23 LANDSCAPE PLAN (1)
	CONCRETE PLANT 7-17-23 WATERSHED PLAN (1)

	4. Planning Project Report - Concrete Plant
	Project name & applicant Page 1
	Zoning Report Page 2
	Land Use Report page 4
	Utilities Report page 6
	Staff SPECIAL USE CONSISTENCY FINDING page 7
	ZONING REPORT
	LAND USE REPORT
	UTILITIES REPORT
	STAFF RECOMMENDATION

	5. Technical memo for Concrete Plant Mattress Factory Road

	4. Rezoning for Transload
	0. Summary Sheet - Conditional Rezoning - Transload
	Presenter
	Applicant
	Public Hearing
	Property
	Zoning Map
	Current Zoning
	Size
	Surrounding Zoning
	Utilities
	Floodplain
	Watershed
	City Limits
	Application Brief
	See Planning Project Report for more details.
	Summary
	Financial Impact
	Suggested Motion
	Attachments

	1. Preliminary Slides
	Rezoning Request: HM & LM to HM (CD�by Samet Corporation��
	NCIC Rail Transload�Conditional Rezoning
	NCIC Rail Transload�Conditional Rezoning
	Slide Number 22
	NCIC Rail Transload�Conditional Rezoning
	NCIC Rail Transload�Conditional Rezoning
	Slide Number 25
	North Carolina Industrial Center (NCIC)�Transload Rail Facility
	Transload – A Long Time in the Making
	Transload Rail Key Points
	Current Zoning
	Transload Site Plan
	Transload Site Plan
	Neighborhood Meeting
	Transload Rail Facility Action Requested

	2. Zoning Amendment Application - Samet Transload
	3. Zoning Map
	4. Site Plan - Rail Transload
	Sheets and Views
	OV SITE


	5. Planning Project Report - Transload
	Project name & applicant Page 1
	Zoning Report Page 2
	Land Use Report page 4
	Utilities Report page 6
	Staff ZONING REQUEST Recommendation page 7
	ZONING REPORT
	LAND USE REPORT
	UTILITIES REPORT
	STAFF RECOMMENDATION

	6. Technical Memo - Transload

	5. Rules of Procedure
	0. Summary Sheet - Rules of Procedure
	Meeting Date
	October 9, 2023
	Presenter 
	Public Hearing
	Summary
	Background
	Financial Impact
	Recommendation
	Attachments

	Supporting Doc 1 - Staff & Semonite
	Supporting Doc 2 - Cannell Recommendation

	5. Planning Project Report - Transload.pdf
	Project name & applicant Page 1
	Zoning Report Page 2
	Land Use Report page 4
	Utilities Report page 6
	Staff ZONING REQUEST Recommendation page 7
	ZONING REPORT
	LAND USE REPORT
	UTILITIES REPORT
	STAFF RECOMMENDATION




